The Humphrey Hook House

WHY SHOULD THIS HOUSE BE SAVED?
October 27, 1998
This question was asked by lots of folks in the fall of 1996 after the house and its surrounding acreage was purchased for a development of new homes. Initial plans included demolition of the house but those plans would change.  This is a story about how people can work together to preserve the heritage and character that makes a community unique.
News of possible demolition of the house was brought to Danville’s new Heritage Commission by Peter and Deb Meigs of the Hawke Historical Society.  The information they had gathered about the house told a story about a special person in the town’s history.  The story fascinated residents and raised the eyebrows of the Heritage Commission.

This home on Beach Plain Road was built in 1751.  It was the home of one of Danville’s earliest founders, Humphrey Hook.  Two of his brothers, Dyer and Jacob Hook, Jr. also had homes on Beach Plain Road.  The home of Humphrey’s brother, Dyer, still stands graciously next door.  Humphrey Hook was one of the town’s early leaders.  With others, he signed the 1760 petition to the General Court to set off the new parish of Hawke (now Danville) from Kingston.  His home is shown on the 1760 hand-drawn map which accompanied the petition.  Humphrey Hook was also a devoted and generous member of his new community.  He was one of the 27 men who built Danville’s Meeting House in 1755 at their own expense and later donated it to the town.  Legend also tells us that Mr. Hook donated the land to the town on which the Old Meeting House Cemetery is now located.  A patriot as well, he served as a captain in the Revolutionary War.  Today his legacy lives on in his nameplate on one of the pews in the Old Meeting House, on his headstone in Ye Olde Cemetery and at his homestead on Beach Plain Road.

An inspection of the house by Bob Pothier, a well-known and knowledgeable restoration professional from Kingston, confirmed what was suspected.  Although showing its 245 years of age and need for repair, the house retained much of its original paneling, moldings and hardware.  The front door bore its original handle.  A Commission member commented that when he put his hand on that handle he felt like he was shaking Humphrey Hook’s hand.  Research and inspections confirmed that the old house on Beach Plain Road, considered for demolition, was an important structure to the Town’s heritage.  It had a direct link with the town’s beginnings and Danville’s Old Meeting House.  

The Commission brought the story of the house to the attention of Bud Post of MDR Corp., the builder who had purchased it.  Mr. Post, a Danville resident, listened attentively.  To the Commission’s surprise, and delight, he agreed not to demolish the house and offered it to the town for possible use as a museum.  Despite several months of intensive searching and assistance from state and private groups, the Commission realized that restoration funds were just not available.  The town would not be able to accept the building.  The Commission passed this news to Mr. Post and once again he listened.  Though anxious to start work on his new development, he wanted to try to save the house.  Everyone seemed to realize that while there are many old houses this was a house with a special story and one that could be documented.  Mr. Post agreed not to demolish the house if a buyer could be found.  Commission members rallied.  They offered to help MDR search for a buyer.  They provided the story of the house, the Hook genealogy and old pictures of the homestead to the realtor.  They called on anyone they thought might be interested.  They talked with prospective buyers.  

It has been two years now.  The Humphrey Hook house still stands and remains an important reminder of Danville’s heritage.  In our next article we will tell you how this came about and what is happening with the Hook house today.
